RECEIVED

Jul 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Anderson M. Griffith, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2024-000545

Melanie P. Hozey, Appellant,

v.

Alan L. Rutherford and Susan M. Rutherford, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

McCANTS & McCANTS

s/ Clarke W. McCants, III

Clarke W. McCants, III

Clarke W. McCants, IV

McCants & McCants

Post Office Box 2881

Aiken, S.C. 29802

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT'S POSSESSION AND USE OF THE DISPUTED AREA WAS NOT NOTORIOUS, HOSTILE AND EXCLUSIVE AND THUS CONCLUDING THAT SHE DID NOT ACQUIRE THE DISPUTED AREA BY ADVERSE POSSESSION?

2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT TRESPASSED ON THE RESPONDENTS' PROPERTY AND BY ENTERING JUDGMENT IN THEIR FAVOR IN THE AMOUNT OF \$300.00?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter presents unique issues involving the law of adverse possession in South Carolina. The Appellant, Melanie Hozey, resides next door to the Respondents, Alan and Susan Rutherford on Laurel Drive in Aiken, South Carolina. (R. pp. 20-21). She purchased her home there in May 2001 and the Rutherfurd's purchased their home in June 2001. (Id).

Ms. Hozey alleges that since at least 2003 she has continuously possessed and used a defined area of land located within the boundaries of the Rutherfurd's property as described by their deed. (R. p. 21). This area of land is referred to as the "Disputed Area". She further asserts that her possession and use of the Disputed Area has been hostile, open, actual, notorious and exclusive, as the law in South Carolina defines such terms. As such, Ms. Hozey submits that she has acquired legal title to the Disputed Area by adverse possession, and is entitled to judgment in her favor as set forth in her Complaint for this case.

The Rutherfurd's deny the Plaintiff's claims. (R. pp. 27-28). They contend that she has failed to establish any of the elements which must be proven under the law of this State to establish acquisition of title by adverse possession. (Id). They further contend that Ms. Hozey has trespassed upon their lands and they are entitled to recover actual and punitive damages from her in this case. (R. pp. 31-32).

A two-day trial of the merits of this case was held on November 1, 2023 and December 11, 2023 before the Honorable Anderson M. Griffith, Master-in-Equity for Aiken County. Following this trial Judge Griffith issued his order denying the relief Ms. Hozey seeks. He also issued judgment in favor of the Rutherfurds on their cause of action for trespass, and awarded them damages in the amount of \$300.00. (R. pp. 1-16).

Ms. Hozey then filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court and now asks that it reverse Judge Griffith's decision in this case.

Arguments

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT'S POSSESSION AND USE OF THE DISPUTED AREA WAS NOT NOTORIOUS, HOSTILE AND EXCLUSIVE AND THUS CONCLUDING THAT SHE DID NOT ACQUIRE THE DISPUTED AREA BY ADVERSE POSSESSION.

In an action at law referred to a master or special referee for final judgment, appellate courts will correct errors of law, but must affirm the master's or referee's factual findings unless no evidence reasonably supports those findings. Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). Ms. Hozey respectfully submits that Judge Griffith's decision is based upon errors in the application of the law to the applied to the evidence presented by the parties, and should be reversed.

Ms. Hozey seeks to establish legal title to the Disputed Area of property involved in this case under the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-67-210 (1976), which provides:

In every action for the recovery of real property or the possession thereof the person establishing a legal title to the premises shall be presumed to have been possessed thereof within the time required by law. The occupation of such premises by any other person shall be deemed to have been under and in subordination to the legal title unless it appear that such premises have been held and possessed adversely to such legal title for ten years before the commencement of such action.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-67-210 (1976).

Acquisition of title to real property by adverse possession must be shown by clear and convincing evidence. Jones v. Leagan, 384 S.C. 1, 681 SE2d 6 (Ct. App. 2009). Using this burden of proof, Ms. Hozey must prove the following elements in order to show that she has acquired title to the Disputed Area by adverse possession:

1. That her possession of the Disputed Area has been continuous for at least ten years prior to her commencement of this civil action;
2. Such possession has been hostile;
3. It has been open and notorious;
4. It has been actual; and
5. Exclusive.

Getsinger v. Midlands Orthopaedic Profit Sharing Plan, 327 S.C. 424, 489 S.E.2d 223 (S.C. App. 1997).

First, though, it is necessary to specifically define the Disputed Area in this matter. An aerial depiction of the area Ms. Hozey claims she has adversely possessed was introduced into evidence at the trial of this case. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1). Ms. Hozey testified that she prepared this exhibit, with the assistance of her counsel, using a computer program available on the internet website maintained by Aiken County for purposes of locating and identifying real property in the

County. (R. p. 52, ln. 1 to p. 129, ln. 1; Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1).

Based upon her personal observations and measurements of the Disputed Area, and using the program, Ms. Hozey marked in red lines on Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1 the area of property she has possessed and used on a continuous basis since at least 2003. (Id). That area is defined as beginning at a point of the northern end of the boundary of her property as defined by Ms. Hozey's deed, then extending west along Laurel Drive into the Rutherfurds' property, as defined by their deed, for a distance of 21.41 feet, then south for 195.9 feet basically parallel to a chain link fence located within the interior of the Rutherford property, then southeast for a distance of 51.14 feet and then finally north for a distance of 226 feet ending at a point on Laurel Drive. (Id).

Having reliably established the boundaries of the Disputed Area, Ms. Hozey now asks this Court to consider the evidence in this case as it regards the elements needed to establish title by adverse possession in South Carolina. As set forth below, Judge Griffith found that Ms. Hozey's possession and use of the Disputed Area was continuous, actual and open for at least ten years before this civil action was filed. He also found, however, that such possession and use was not , open use of the Disputed Area was continuous, open and actual for at least and, in fact, over ten years he found that such use was not hostile, notorious or exclusive.

Continuous

In his Order for this case Judge Griffith found that Ms. Hozey has satisfied the element of "continuous" for the requisite period of time. (R. p. 15). In that regard he wrote:

Based on the [Ms. Hozey's] testimony she began using the portions of the disputed area in 2003 and continued the use until [Rutherford's] posted the property and made a report with the police. Even after this change, the camper remained in the disputed area. Ms. Hozey also introduced photographs and provided testimony of work she performed in the disputed area and the commercial workers she hired to work in that area. Based upon the nature of the disputed property, [Ms. Hozey's] use was continuous for at least ten years.

(R. pp. 11-12; R. p. 15, Paragraph 3).

Actual

Judge Griffith also found that Ms. Hozey's use of the Disputed Area was "actual".

In his Order he concluded:

The disputed area is an open area and actual residency or creating permanent structures is not required. In the area of the parking pad, [Ms. Hozey's] activities of parking vehicles, campers, and boats were sufficient to place the [Rutherford's], by ordinary diligence, to have known of the use by [Ms. Hozey].

(R. p. 11).

Also, Judge Griffith noted that the remaining portion of the Disputed Area is a wooded area which slopes in a downward fashion from Laurel Drive. (Id). With respect to this part of the Disputed Area he wrote:

[Ms. Hozey] and Mr. Rutherford both agree he saw her on the disputed property. Mr. Rutherford did not question her use of the property and said he believed he was being a good neighbor.

(Id).

Open

Judge Griffith also found that Ms. Hozey's use of the Disputed Area was "open" but not "notorious". In the Conclusion portion of his Order he wrote:

4. While the use was open, including the use where the [Rutherfurds] knew or should have known of the use, [Ms. Hozey] never prevented or attempted to prevent the use of the disputed area by the [Rutherfurds] or the businesses they hired for performing work in the area. Under the clear and convincing standard, the court find the use was open, but not notorious.

(R. p. 15, Paragraph 4).

Thus, Judge Griffith found that Ms. Hozey, by clear and convincing evidence, established the elements of “continuous”, “actual” and “open”, but not “hostile”, “notorious” and “exclusive”. Ms. Hozey now turns to these latter elements and respectfully submits that Judge Griffith erred by not finding that Ms. Hozey proved them clearly and convincingly.

Hostility

As this Court is aware South Carolina is one of the minority jurisdictions requiring one have a “hostile intent” in order to allow them to claim that they have adversely possessed someone else’s real property. As this Court has held,

In this state, as elsewhere, adverse possession requires hostile possession, that is, possession with intention to dispossess the owner. Ouzts v. McKnight, 114 S.C. 303, 103 S.E. 561 (1920). The mere possession of land, however, does not in and of itself manifest hostility toward the landowner. Knight v. Hilton, 224 S.C. 452, 79 S.E.2d 871 (1954); Croft v. Sanders, 283 S.C. 507, 323 S.E.2d 791 (Ct.App.1984). In South Carolina, unlike in most other jurisdictions, possession under a mistaken belief that property is one's own and with no intent to claim against the property's true owner cannot constitute hostile possession.

Lusk v. Callaham,, 287 S.C. 459, 339 S.E.2d 156 (S.C. App. 1986).

Hostility, within the context of our law of adverse possession, may be difficult to prove by clear and convincing evidence. Some view this element as requiring a person to intend to “steal” their neighbor’s land in order to obtain title by adverse possession. The common meaning

of “steal” is the taking of another person’s property without permission or legal right, and without intending to return it. This plain meaning is not consistent with the manner in which our courts have defined the term “hostile” as an element of adverse possession.

Rather, the element of “hostility” requires that possession of property must be without subserviency to, or recognition of, the true owner’s title, and must be hostile to it and the whole world. Greg v. Moore, 226 S.C. 366, 85 S.E.2d 279 (1954); All Saints Parish v. Protestant Episcopal Church, 358 S.C. 209, 595 S.E.2d 253 (Ct. App. 2004). A focus, therefore, is placed upon how one views or respects the legal title to property held by another.

At trial Ms. Hozey testified that she knew the Disputed Area was not within the legal boundaries of her property as established by her deed, and she knew it did not belong to her. (R. pp. 126, ln. 11 to p. 129, ln. 1). She had no mistaken belief in these regards. (Id). She stated further that it was her intent to acquire lawful title to that area, and to the exclusion of her neighbors’ legal interest. (Id).

Further, the term “hostile” must be read together with the other required elements in order to establish title by adverse possession in South Carolina - together they are, in reality, a safeguard against allowing one neighbor to acquire title to their neighbor’s property without the latter fully knowing, or having a clear opportunity to know, the former’s true intentions. In this regard, Ms. Hozey has clearly met her burden of proof.

Notorious

As set forth above Judge Griffith found that Ms. Hozey’s use of the Disputed Area has been “open” for the requisite period of time, but not “notorious”. Returning to his Order in this

regard, he wrote:

4. While the use was open, including the use where the [Rutherfurds] knew or should have known of the use, [Ms. Hozey] never prevented or attempted to prevent the use of the disputed area by the [Rutherfurds] or the businesses they hired for performing work in the area. Under the clear and convincing standard, the court find the use was open, but not notorious.

(R. p. 15, Paragraph 4).

The conclusion to be drawn from Judge Griffith's finding here is that Ms. Hozey's use and possession of the Disputed Area could not be "notorious" as a matter of law because she never undertook to exclude or bar the Rutherfurds from it. Ms. Hozey respectfully submits that there is no such requirement under South Carolina law, and Judge Griffith's conclusion is based upon an error of law.

To establish notorious possession in South Carolina it is not necessary that a property owner have actual knowledge of the acts of the person seeking to acquire title by adverse possession. Graniteville Co. v. Williams, 209 S.C. 112, 39 S.E.2d 202 (S.C. 1946). This element is satisfied if that person's acts are so open, visible and notorious a reasonable person should, in the exercise ordinary diligence, know of those acts. Id.

The elements of "open" and "notorious" should be read together given the facts of this case. Ms. Hozey contends that while the terms "open" bears upon how visible her acts within the Disputed Area have been, the term "notorious" should be used to define the nature of those acts - and perhaps more specifically, whether the nature of those acts are consistent with acts of an innocent neighbor or someone intending to establish legal ownership of real property over a requisite period of time.

As noted Judge Griffith found that Ms. Hozey's use and possession of the Disputed

area was “actual”. What she did in exercising such use and possession is set forth below and demonstrates that she intended to seek legal ownership of the Disputed Area:

- Since she bought her home in 2001 Ms. Hozey regularly planted bushes and shrubbery within the Disputed Area, cleared the area and regularly maintained it. (R. p. 52, ln. 1 to p. 129, ln. 1; R. pp. 499-510);

- Between 2003 and the date of Judge Griffith’s decision Ms. Hozey parked several different types of vehicles, including at least two campers, two trucks and a boat on a trailer on the northern part of the Disputed Area where it borders Laurel Drive. Additionally, visitors to the Hozey home would park in this area. (R. p. 52, ln. 1 to p. 129, ln. 1);

- She installed a sprinkler irrigation system in the Disputed Area in 2003. (R. p. 96, ln. 20-23; Plaintiff’s Exhibit No. 1);

- Ms. Hozey installed an invisible pet fence in 2005 in the area along the Rutherford’s chain link fence, where her pets would freely roam. The flags marking this fence remained where they were placed for several months after installation of the fence and, in fact, some of those flags remain there today. (R. p. 96, ln. 21-25 to p. 100, ln. 20);

- In 2011, she hired and paid Heath Tractor and Backhoe Services to construct a parking pad in the Disputed Area for her vehicles, campers and boat and trailer using “crush and run” material which distinguishes the parking area from the surrounding ground. (R. p. 104, ln. 15 to p. 105, ln. 16);

- In June 2012 she hired and paid Cold Creek Nurseries, a local landscaping business, to clear underbrush in the Disputed Area. (Transcript of Trial, Part I, P. 9, L. 1 to P. 86, L. 1);

- In June 2013 she again paid Cold Creek to clear underbrush in the area. (R. p. 108, ln.11 to p. 109, ln. 3; Plaintiff’s Exhibit No. 1);

- After a severe ice storm which struck Aiken in February 2014 Ms. Hozey hired a contractor to clear six large pine and hardwood trees which had fallen in the Disputed Area and also damaged the invisible fence, which was covered by her homeowner’s insurance policy. At that time the invisible fence was also repaired. (R. p. 110, ln. 3 to p. 117, ln. 16);

- In 2015 she again hired and paid Cold Creek to clear underbrush from the Disputed Area. (R. p. 118, ln. 1-8; Plaintiff’s Exhibit No. 1);

- In May and June of 2020 she again engaged and paid Cold Creek to perform clearing and debris removal in the area. (R. p. 118, ln. 1-8; Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1);

- Ms. Hozey's children, Colby and Kaitlan, also used the Disputed Area to play with friends on a regular basis during the time they lived with her. (R. p. 182, ln. 20-23).

The nature of Ms. Hozey's acts in the Disputed Area are consistent with her efforts to exercise legal ownership of that land, to the exclusion of the Rutherfurds' interest in that property. In that regard, her acts were clearly "notorious" as defined by South Carolina law.

Exclusive

Judge Griffith ruled that Ms. Hozey's use of the Disputed Area has not been "exclusive". Ms. Hozey contends that she has maintained such possession for at least 18-years, far in excess of the requisite period of time of ten years. The Rutherfurds contend they also "possessed" the Disputed Area during the 18-year period, such that Ms. Hozey's possession may not be deemed to be exclusive.

The term "possession" has not been fully defined by our appellate courts. Ms. Hozey does not challenge the general rule in South Carolina that "where an owner of property and an occupier are both in possession, the possession of the legal owner prevails to the exclusion of the other. Butler v. Lindsey, 361 S.E.2d 621, 293 S.C. 466 (S.C. App. 1987).

However, and as noted above, South Carolina law does provide that the requirement of exclusive possession and continuity be examined within the context of the nature of the real property involved in an adverse possession case. Mullis, Id. In that case the Supreme Court also reviewed the actions of the party who sought to obtain title by adverse possession and noted that "occasional entries on land to cut a small amount of timber do not constitute a sufficiently

continuous use to establish adverse possession.” Mullis, Id.

The evidence in this case shows that the Rutherfurds themselves never acted to “possess” or “occupy” the Disputed Area. Mr. Rutherford testified that he infrequently walked through the area and picked up fallen tree branches. (R. p. 368, ln. 8-11). Though disputed, there is evidence that he and his wife occasionally hired individuals to clear debris from their yard, and they picked up some amount of debris from across the chain link fence in the Disputed Area. (R. p. 368, ln. 12-20).

The Rutherfurds, however, never erected any structures in the Disputed Area, never stored or placed any personal property in the area, never used the area for any family or similar activities or did anything else which might reasonably be viewed as an actual possession or occupation of the land. The lack of such actions bears directly upon whether the Rutherfurds truly ever possessed or occupied any portion of the Disputed Area.

Further, the chain link fence mentioned above is another critical factor to consider when analyzing whether or not the Rutherfurds acted to actually possess or occupy the Disputed Area. A portion of this fence, of course, is situated between the Rutherfurds’ house and pool and their boundary line with Ms. Hozey. (R. p. 136, ln. 9-22). There is no gate along this line of the fence, or other access, between the home and pool side of the fence and the Disputed Area. (R. p. 85, ln. 2-15; Plaintiff’s Exhibit No. 1). This fact bears directly on whether the Rutherfurds could gain the necessary and regular access to the Disputed Area in order to possess, occupy or even use it in any manner.

In addition, the Rutherfurds never took any affirmative steps to challenge Ms. Hozey's occupation, possession and use of the Disputed Area until early 2021 when, upon the advice of their attorney, they posted a "No Trespassing" sign near the Disputed Area. (R. p. 98, ln. 1-9). At that time they also had the Aiken Department of Public Safety issue a trespass notice to Ms. Hozey. (R. p. 528). As stated above Ms. Hozey began using and occupying the Disputed Area as early as 2003, eighteen years before the Rutherfurds posted the No Trespassing sign. (R. p. 106, ln. 2-19).

Further, had the Rutherfurds truly believed that they "shared" the Disputed Area with Ms. Hozey, there would be no reason for them to post such a sign - that is, unless they came to realize that the Disputed Area was within the boundaries of their property as defined by their deed. Their realization, however, arose well after the time period within which Ms. Hozey had established title in her name by way of adverse possession.

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