**RECEIVED**

**Jan 23 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

---

Case No. 2021-CP-02-00766  
App Case No. 2024-000545

---

Melanie Hozey,

Appellant,

v.

Alan Rutherford and Susan Rutherford

Respondents.

---

(Substitute)  
INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

Dionè C. Carroll, Esq.  
Carroll Law Offices, P.A.  
107 Pendleton St. NW  
Aiken, SC 29805  
Attorney for Respondents

##

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **(Statement of Facts)**

**(1) Statement of Significant Relevant Evidence Admitted Into Evidence at Trial.**

The Appellant, Melanie P. Hozey, is currently a neighbor of the Respondents, Alan L. Rutherford and Susan M. Rutherford. In June of 2001, the Respondents purchased certain real property located at 714 Laurel Drive, S.W. in Aiken, South Carolina.

Hereinafter it will be referred to as the “Subject Property.” Witness Curtis “Rhet” Coleman, the surveyor, established and confirmed Respondents good and correct title and the boundary of the Subject Property. *See* Testimony of Coleman (Tr. Vol. II at 151-200); *see also* Defendants’ Trial Exhibits 15-25; *see also* (Tr. Vol. II at 26, L1-11).

Appellant purchased her property shortly before Respondents purchased the above-referenced Disputed Area. Appellant’s property neighbors and adjoins the Subject Property. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford. (Tr. Vol. II)

The Appellant claimed at trial to have continuously held a portion of the Subject Property, owned by Respondents, for a period exceeding 10 years in a manner, resulting in adverse possession. *See* Hozey Testimony (Tr. Vol. I). To establish adverse possession, the burden of proof was on Appellant to prove all the elements of adverse possession by clear and

convincing evidence and to prove that they were all in place for a period exceeding 10 years. Appellant failed to meet her heavy burden.

It was, and is, Respondents' firm position that the Appellant has NOT continuously held, occupied and possessed any portion of the Disputed Area by, among other things, usually cultivating, maintaining and/or improving that portion of the real property for the required period. *Cf.* Complaint at ¶11; *see* Testimony of S. Rutherford and A. Rutherford (Tr. Vol. II at 8-107 and 108-150). Appellant claimed no color of title in her Complaint, and it was further stipulated at trial that Appellant claims no color of title. *See* Complaint.

Appellant supplied at trial a large satellite image, which included a view of both Appellant's and Respondent's properties. It was admitted into evidence at trial. *See* Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 1.

Appellant had modified that satellite image to show a geometric figure bounded by red lines. *See* Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 1. The area bounded by red lines is, evidently, the area Appellant sought to take from Respondents, Mr. and Mrs. Rutherford, by adverse possession. *See* Testimony of M. Hozey. Hereinafter the red bounded area will be referred to as the "Disputed Area."

The evidence demonstrated that the use and possession of the Disputed Area of the Disputed Area by Appellant had NOT been actual, open, notorious, hostile, continuous and exclusive for such requisite statutory and/or other applicable period of time as to constitute the Appellant's adverse possession of said portion of the Disputed Area. *Cf.* Complaint ¶12. Appellant is, further, not entitled to title of any portion of the Disputed Area for any reason.

The uncontroverted evidence confirmed and demonstrated the Disputed Area that Appellant claims she has continuously held, occupied and possessed is not, and never has been,

enclosed or protected by a fence. *See* Complaint at ¶13. Appellant has never paid any portion of the taxes applicable to the Disputed Area, which has always been paid by Respondents since they purchased the property. (Tr. Vol. II)

Appellant freely admitted at trial that she had a neighborly and good relationship with the Respondent Rutherford's until late 2020, undermining her claim of hostility for the 10-year statutory period. *See* Testimony of M. Hozey. (Tr. Vol. I) Respondents testified she was allowed on their property. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford and A. Rutherford. (Tr. Vol. II) She had tacit permission. *See id.* They believed that was the neighborly thing to do. *See id.*

Appellant used portions of the Disputed Area, but Respondents used it too. They just used it differently. Respondents used it as a buffer as discussed above. Respondents' use of the property undermined the element of Appellant's claim that her use was exclusive. She failed to prove that her use was exclusive by clear and convincing evidence, and *arguendo* even if it was exclusive for any period of time, it was not continuously exclusive for any 10-year period. On this element alone, her claim of adverse possession had to fail.

The evidence confirmed that during the years between 2001, when the property was purchased, and the present, Respondents lived on the Subject Property as their residence and made use of all of the Disputed Area personally and through agents, further undermining Appellant's claim that her use had been exclusive. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford and A. Rutherford. (Tr. Vol. II)

Respondent Susan Rutherford testified extensively regarding the use by Respondents of the Disputed Area. She told the court that the Disputed Area serves an important buffer purpose for Respondents. *See id.* *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford. (Tr. Vol. II at 8-107). It provides the Respondents a degree of privacy, and it guarantees separation from potential future noxious uses,

by both the current and potential future owners. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford and A. Rutherford; (Tr. Vol. II at 8-150).

As part of her testimony, Respondent Susan Rutherford supplied invoices, checks and other proofs of payment regarding work done by agents of the Respondents to maintain and improve the Disputed Area, all of which included work on the Disputed Area. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford; *see* Defendants' Exhibits 1-9. Those invoices, checks and other proofs of payment were admitted into evidence as Defendants' Trial Exhibits 1 through 9. She further indicated other work had been done on the property by her husband during every year since they purchased the Disputed Area, and other work had been done by agents under circumstances where she had not kept the invoices. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford; (Tr. Vol. II at 8-107). Mr. Rutherford also testified and confirmed he had worked on the property at least several times each year. *See* Testimony of A. Rutherford; (Tr. Vol. II at 108-150)

Surveyor Coleman also testified at trial and was qualified as an expert witness. During Witness Coleman's testimony, he confirmed that one aspect of work done on the property included a survey, done at the Respondents' request and direction, confirming the lines of the Subject Property, the corners of the Subject Property and the corners of other neighboring properties, including Appellant's property. *See* Testimony of Coleman. He also confirmed that Mr. Rutherford walked the entire property with him after completion of the survey. *See id.*

The use of the property by the Rutherfurds and their agents has included occupying and making use of, and improvements to, the Disputed Area. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford, A. Rutherford, Coleman, and M. Hozey (who admitted, reluctantly, seeing Mr. Rutherford doing work on the property at some point.); *see* Defendants' Exhibits 1-9. On the witness stand, Mrs. Rutherford went through the timeline of activities done by landscapers and other professionals.

Mr. and Mrs. Rutherford confirmed Mr. Rutherford worked on the property each and every year, multiple times. No period of 10 years has passed when Respondents did not personally and/or through their agents make use of the property. Appellant, therefore, may not legitimately claim she has had exclusive use of the property.

Appellant has, from time to time, parked vehicles on the Disputed Area. However, consistent with the testimony of Witness Coleman, there are no permanent structures on the Disputed Area, only rocks that can be easily removed. *See* Testimony of Coleman. Witness Coleman's survey does not show the parking as a permanent structure. Mrs. Rutherford confirmed the parking has not been continuous for a period of 10 years. Rocks that are easily movable gravel in a small area does not constitute a permanent structure. *See* Testimony of Coleman. Appellant did not, therefore, prove by clear and convincing evidence that she has actually, continuously used the Disputed Area for 10 years and may not legitimately assert a physical intrusion sufficient to establish adverse possession. On this element alone, her claim of adverse possession must also fail.

Testimony of Mrs. Rutherford and Defendants' Exhibits 10-13 reveal a change in the relationship between Appellant and Respondents in late 2020. *See* Defendants' Trial Exhibits 10-13. Where there previously had been no "hostility," their relationship became adverse. Appellant evidently decided to get quotes on the construction of a permanent structure on Respondents' land. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford and A. Rutherford. Mr. Rutherford saw the man on the property working on giving such a quote. *See* Testimony of A. Rutherford. Respondents then felt they needed to take affirmative action to protect their property after that discovery. *See id.*

In 2020, Respondents undertook certain actions to stop and prevent the Appellant from having access to and using the area of the real property, including a request that the City of Aiken

Department of Public Safety issue and serve upon her a notice that she is criminally trespassing upon said real property. *See* Complaint at ¶14; *see also* Defendants' Exhibits 10-13. They posted "no trespass" signs and demanded that she not trespass. Letters from their son-in-law and from the undersigned were sent. *See* Defendants' Exhibits 10-13. Mr. Rutherford testified the "no trespass" signs were taken down several times. Every time they were taken down, he put them back up.

For most of Respondents' tenancy on the Subject Property including the Disputed Area, Respondents committed to being good neighbors and allowed Appellant to come into their space on the land near their shared property line, allowing her permission to do so. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford. Notorious hostility has existed only since shortly before suit was filed. Appellant, therefore, also failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that her use was hostile, open, actual or notorious for 10 years. If it was any of these for any period of time, the uncontroverted evidence demonstrates the hostility started in late 2020, about a year before the lawsuit was initiated. An exclusive, hostile, open, actual and notorious situation did not exist continuously for any 10-year period. On any one of these elements, Appellant's claim of adverse possession must fail. Pursuant to the lower Court opinion, it did fail on the exclusive, hostile and notorious requirements. *See* Judge Griffith's Order at 15.

After Notice that she was trespassing was given to Appellant, rather than complying, Appellant filed suit to try to take her neighbor Respondents' property away from them for her personal and exclusive use. They are retired, and the testimony showed that it has become more and more difficult for them to personally maintain the buffer, which is the Disputed Area, but it remains important to them. They have employed professionals to maintain this area for the

protection of their privacy, and it is a priority to them to continue to do so. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford and A. Rutherford.

It would be an abuse and misuse of the adverse possession law to allow a neighbor to bully retired people and take away their land just because they do not use buffer land in an active and activist way. It would defy logic for the law to require the less physically active to frequently go on to parts of their property that are difficult to get to in order to prevent adverse possession, especially when Appellant never outwardly attempted to prevent them or their agents from coming on the land. It would defy logic for use as a buffer to be a use not allowed on private property seeking to avoid adverse possession.

There was extensive testimony about how a portion of the disputed area drops off dramatically away from the road. *See* Testimony of Coleman. No one could be expected to go there frequently.

Several witnesses testified that the Rutherford's have never been excluded from the property. It is undisputed that the Disputed Area is not fenced around its boundary or protected by a substantial enclosure. Appellant has failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the Disputed Area "has been protected by a substantial enclosure" for any period of time, ever, much less for any 10-year period. On this requirement alone, her claim of adverse possession must fail. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-67-250; *see also* *M3s v. Charleston Lands Corp.*, 2019 S.C. C.P. LEXIS 1180 at \*5 (Ct. Common Pleas, 9th Cir. 2019) (finding the party claiming adverse possession had enclosed the space for parking).

The Rutherford's have a pool. The only fence standing, relevant to the dispute, is a fence, required by law, which protects the pool from children and animals who might be at risk of drowning in an attractive nuisance like a pool. It is required by City Code. *See* Testimony of S.

Rutherford; *see also* City Code, Section 303, specifically § 303.2, Enclosures (“Private swimming pools . . . shall be completely surrounded by a fence or barrier . . . . An existing pool enclosure shall not be removed, replaced or changed in a manner that reduces its effectiveness as a safety barrier.”) The fence exists only along a modest portion of the west side of the Disputed Area and does not surround it. *See* Testimony of Coleman.

As discussed earlier, Appellant has no “color of title” to the Disputed Area, has made no assertion of “color of title.” Appellant made assertions to Witness Coleman regarding her belief there was some kind of government easement on the Disputed Area, further entitling her to be on the property. *See* Coleman Testimony. Her belief that she had a right to be in the Disputed Area contradicts and undermines any claim of hostility. Appellant, failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that her use was hostile for 10 years. If she believed she had a right to be on the property because of an easement until Witness Coleman corrected her in 2020 or 2021, her occupation was not hostile. This confirms that hostility was not continuous for any 10-year period. On this element alone, her claim of adverse possession must fail.

Appellant now seeks an Order from this Court reversing the lower court’s opinion that she is not the lawful, rightful and fee simple owner of the Disputed Area. This claim by Appellant is firmly disputed by Respondents who assert that Appellant failed to meet all the requirements of adverse possession, which must be proved, including every element, and uninterrupted, by the Appellant, whom the burden is upon, by clear and convincing evidence, for a period of 10 years.

Respondents counterclaimed, claiming Appellant trespassed on their property. Evidence admitted at trial demonstrated multiple instances of such trespass. Appellant was provided the adequate notice and warning. Testimony of Mrs. Rutherford demonstrated she and her husband

were both frightened, as Appellant had become aggressive in her attempt to take away their property, and financially damaged by Appellant's trespass as Respondents would have liked to have downsized and rented or sold the property but were unable to do so. *See* Testimony of S. Rutherford. The trial Court found that "since the Plaintiff filed the lawsuit, Mrs. Rutherford has suffered from increased stress, sleeping issues and has noticed that her husband has lost weight due to stress." Judge Griffith's Order.

These facts demonstrate willful, wanton and reckless disregard of the Respondents' rights and justified both compensatory and exemplary damages for trespass, though only a nominal \$300.00 was awarded. *See Fox v. Munnerlyn*, 283 S.C. 490; 323 S.E.2d 68 (Ct. App. 1984). Respondents do not, however, assert that any such aggressive behavior occurred before 2020. *See* Judge Griffith's Order.

**(2) Summary of Respondents' Significant Relevant Evidence Submitted at Trial.**

- Appellant has NOT continuously held, occupied and possessed the disputed section of the Disputed Area. She was, instead, a trespasser that was declared a trespasser and Respondents were awarded damages with respect to the trespass that occurred after they gave Notice. *See* Defendants' Trial Exhibits 10-13.

- Appellant has NOT had exclusive use of the property. Respondents have used the Disputed Area at the same time, but in different ways.

- Respondents and Appellant were NOT hostile or adverse for the required period. Appellant did not even know what the lot line was and believed she was entitled to be there by virtue of a utility easement for times relevant to this case, negating hostility. Furthermore, Respondents had given her tacit permission.

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